

BYLAWS OF THE CONSORTIUM OF UNIVERSITIES FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF HYDROLOGIC SCIENCE, INC.

*ADOPTED BY ELECTRONIC VOTE OF MORE THAN SIXTY PERCENT OF MEMBERS,
September 8, 2024.*

Article I. Name

Section 1. Name: The name of the Corporation is Consortium of Universities for the Advancement of Hydrologic Science, Incorporated (the "Corporation").

Article II. Member and Affiliate Institutions

Section 1. Membership:

Graduate Institution (GI): Academic institutions chartered in the United States that serve undergraduate and graduate populations with faculty, staff, students, or degrees that align with the mission of the Corporation, may become GI Members of the Corporation.

Primarily Undergraduate Institution (PUI): Academic institutions chartered in the United States that serve predominantly undergraduate populations with faculty, staff, students, or degrees that align with the mission of the Corporation, may become PUI Members of the Corporation. Criteria for membership as a Primarily Undergraduate Institution will be the same as those maintained by the National Science Foundation for Primarily Undergraduate Institutions at the time of application.

The rights and privileges of GI and PUI members with respect to participation in the scientific activities of the Corporation shall be set forth according to policies established by the Board of Directors.

The current list of member institutions shall be maintained by the Secretary.

Section 2. Non-profit Affiliation: Non-profit organizations in the United States that are engaged in hydrologic sciences, water-resource management and policy, or closely related activities that align with the mission of the Corporation, but that do not otherwise qualify for membership in the Corporation, may be elected as Non-profit Affiliates for an indefinite term. The rights and privileges of Non-profit Affiliates with respect to participation in the scientific activities of the Corporation shall be set forth according to policies established by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. A. International Affiliation: Research and educational institutions and other foreign, non-profit organizations may be elected as International Affiliates for an indefinite term. The rights and privileges of International Affiliates with respect to participation in the scientific activities of the Corporation shall be set forth according to policies established by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. B. International Affiliates from Developing Countries: International Affiliates from Developing Countries, a distinct class of International Affiliates, include organizations from countries not categorized as "high-income economies" by the World Bank. International Affiliates from Developing Countries can request a waiver of the initiation fee, and the Board of Directors may assess reduced annual membership dues on this class.

Section 4. Corporate and Professional Affiliation: For-profit organizations and businesses may be elected as Corporate Affiliates for an indefinite term. Once admitted, each Corporate Affiliate shall designate a Representative, who may serve on the Corporate Advisory Board as described in Article VII, Section 10. Corporate Affiliates may attend membership meetings, but their presence does not count toward a quorum, nor do they have the right to vote on motions before the membership or to propose motions. The rights and privileges of Corporate Affiliates with respect to participation in the scientific activities of the Corporation shall be set forth according to policies established by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is authorized to establish more than one class of Corporate Affiliation.

Section 5. Affiliate: In the remainder of these Bylaws, the term "Affiliate" refers to all classes of affiliation created under Sections 2, 3, and 4 of this Article unless specifically restricted.

Section 6. Election: An institution applying for GI or PUI membership must be qualified as an educational and non-profit institution recognized as exempt from Federal income tax as an organization described in section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, according to criteria adopted by the Board of Directors. Qualified institutions may be elected as Members by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the entire Board of Directors, or by unanimous vote of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors. Affiliate members may also apply to the Board of Directors and may be elected by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the Board of Directors or unanimous vote of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors.

Section 7. Resignation, Removal, or Placement on Inactive Status: Any Member or Affiliate may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair, President, or Secretary of the Corporation. Such resignation shall take effect upon receipt of the notice, or at any time specified therein. Given sufficient cause, any Member or Affiliate may be removed or placed on inactive status by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the entire Board of Directors. Any resigning Member or Affiliate, or Member or Affiliate being removed, shall remain liable for any amounts due, pursuant to Article IX of the Bylaws. Inactive members may re-gain active member status at the discretion of the President following policies established by the Board of Directors.

Section 8. Executive Officer: The term “Executive Officer,” referred to in Section 9, is a Senior Officer of a Member Institution above the level of Department Head, or, in the case of an Affiliate, any executive officer or manager of the administrative unit of the organization or business.

Section 9. Representatives and Alternates: An Executive Officer of a GI Member shall designate up to three Representatives, an Executive Officer of a PUI Member shall designate a single Representative, and an Executive Officer of Affiliate Members shall designate a single Representative, to serve for the term specified by such written designation. Each Representative shall be the holder of an academic, research, or teaching appointment (for GI or PUI members) or other science-related position (for Affiliates), with major responsibilities for instruction and/or research in a water-related field, in a department, program, or other organizational unit of such Member or Affiliate. Each PUI Member and Affiliate Member shall have one vote, with the exception of Corporate and Professional Affiliates who do not count towards a quorum nor a vote. Regardless of the number of Representatives appointed by a GI Member, each GI Member shall have three votes as described in Section 2 which shall be allocated at the discretion of the Representatives. The intent of multiple Representatives from GI Members is to broaden the disciplinary representation in the Consortium to reflect the multiple scientific disciplines which contribute to water science.

Members are encouraged to appoint Representatives from Earth sciences, engineering, ecology, social sciences and other disciplines with interest in water. Member Institutions are also encouraged to rotate appointment of Representatives among faculty members and to appoint early-career and under-represented groups as Representatives. For Member Institutions, subsequent to the initial designation of Representatives by an Executive Officer, designation of new Representatives may also be made by unanimous vote of the current Representatives.

The Executive Officer may also appoint an Alternate for each Representative to attend all meetings and exercise all the rights, powers, and privileges in the Representative’s absence. In the case when neither the Representative, nor the Alternate, is available to attend a meeting, or in the case where a Representative is not available to attend a meeting and an Alternate has not been designated, the Representative or an Executive Officer of the Member or Affiliate may authorize as a replacement an individual, otherwise qualified to serve as the Representative, to attend the meeting and exercise all the rights, powers and privileges in the Representative’s absence. Written authorized notification that a replacement is to serve as Representative to attend the meeting shall be received by the Secretary of the Corporation at least twenty-four hours before the scheduled meeting time.

Article III. Meetings of Membership and Election of the Board of Directors

Section 1. Annual Meeting: There shall be an Annual Membership Meeting of the Members and Affiliates for the transaction of such business as may properly come before the Corporation, on the first Monday in December in each year, or on such other date during the months of November or December as the Board of Directors may designate.

Section 2. Notice of Meetings: Notice of the Annual Membership Meeting shall be given to the Representative(s) of each Member or Affiliate by the Secretary, or by an officer directed by the Chair of the Board of Directors or the President to give such notice. Notice shall be given by first-class mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the

Representative, or by electronic communication addressed to the Representative at the electronic address provided by the Representative, not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date fixed for the meeting. Notice of any meeting need not be given to any Representative, however, who submits a signed waiver of notice, before or after the meeting. Attendance of a Representative at a meeting without protesting lack of receipt of notice of the meeting prior to the conclusion of the meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice by the Representative. When a meeting is adjourned to another place or time, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of the adjourned meeting if the time and place to which the meeting is adjourned are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken.

Section 3. Quorum: At all meetings, a quorum is constituted by a number of Members, Non-profit Affiliates and International Affiliates (but not including Corporate Affiliates) equal to fifty percent (50%) or more of the active Members. If a quorum is not present, a majority of the Members present may adjourn the meeting without notice other than by announcement at said meeting, until a quorum is present. At any duly adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called.

Section 4. Nominating Committee: No less than ninety (90) days before the Annual Membership Meeting, the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors shall appoint a Nominating Committee, which shall prepare a slate of one or more nominees for each opening on the Board of Directors to be filled. The Secretary shall send notice to the Members and Affiliates reporting the composition of the Nominating Committee and will solicit names of suggested nominees. Multiple candidates from the same Member Institution may appear on the ballot, but only one candidate from any given Member Institution may ultimately serve on the Board, pursuant to Article IV, Section 2. Candidates from Member Institutions which are already represented on the Board in the succeeding year are not eligible to run. Eligible candidates may be placed on the slate by the Nominating Committee or upon receipt by the Nominating Committee of a written petition signed by five Member Representatives at least sixty (60) days before the Annual Meeting.

Names of Directors serving as Chair-Elect/Chair/Past-Chair whose term as Director expires before their term as officer shall be automatically entered on the ballot for another three-year term, marked as "Mid-Term Officers." The Nominating Committee shall submit the ballot to the Secretary forty-five (45) days prior to the Annual Meeting; the Secretary shall certify that the nominees are eligible to stand for election.

Section 5 Ballot: The ballot prepared by the Nominating Committee shall be included in the Notice of Meeting. Each active GI Member shall receive three ballots, and each active PUI Member, Non-Profit Affiliate, and International Affiliate shall receive one ballot.

Section 6. Election of Directors: Election of Directors shall take place prior to the Annual Membership Meeting. Election shall be made by electronic ballot sent to the Member Representative(s) and voting Affiliate Representatives by electronic mail prior to the Annual Meeting. Election shall be valid if ballots are received from one-half of the active Membership.

Section 7. Method of Voting: In the election of Directors, a valid ballot shall contain no more votes than vacancies being filled; election to each vacancy shall be determined in sequence in favor of those qualified nominees with the most votes. If more than one candidate for the same Member Institution should receive sufficient votes to otherwise serve as a Director, only that candidate with the most votes shall be elected to Board to meet the conditions of Article IV, Section 2. The remaining candidates from that Member Institution shall be skipped over in favor of candidates from distinct Member Institutions. The polling system must contain an authentication method, such as a unique password for each Member or Affiliate Representative.

Section 8. Counting of Ballots and All Motions Put before the Membership: The Secretary shall operate the polling system and record the vote tabulation. If the Secretary is a candidate for any office in the election, the Secretary shall be replaced by the Chair, or a Representative designated by the Chair for the duties described in this article. If only a fraction of ballots from a GI Member are returned, the voting Representatives are assumed to be acting as proxy voters for remaining Representative(s) from their institution and their remaining votes shall be tallied proportionately

Section 9: Special Elections: The procedures set forth in Sections 2 through 8 shall apply in the case of a Special Election held to fill the vacancy of a Director that has resigned or been removed pursuant to Article IV, Sections 5, 6

and 8.

Section 10: Special Meetings: The Board of Directors, or the Executive Committee acting on its behalf, may call a Special Meeting of the Membership for the purpose of a special election of Directors and/or for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before it.

Section 11: Participation by Conference Telephone: In any meeting, any one or more Representatives may participate by means of a conference telephone, or similar communications equipment allowing all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at a meeting.

Article IV. Board of Directors

Section 1. Powers: Full power in the management of the affairs of the Corporation is vested in the Board of Directors. To this end and without limitation of the foregoing or of its powers expressly conferred by these Bylaws, the Board of Directors shall have power to authorize such action on behalf of the Corporation, make such rules or regulations for its management, create such additional offices or special committees, and select, employ, or remove such of its officers, agents or employees as it shall deem best. The Board of Directors shall have the power to fill vacancies in and change the membership of such committees as are constituted by it.

Section 2. Composition: The Board of Directors shall be composed of fifteen (15) individuals, hereafter called "Directors." At least ten (10) of the Directors must be affiliated with a Member Institution, hereafter "Member Directors." Up to five (5) Directors need not be affiliated with a Member Institution, hereafter "Directors-At-Large". There shall not be more than one Director on the Board from any Member, Affiliate, or Non-member Institution.

Section 3. Election of the Board: The Board of Directors shall be elected by the Members and Affiliates prior to the Annual Membership Meeting (Article III).

Section 4. Term of Office: The term of office of Directors is three (3) years, with terms staggered so that one-third of the Board is elected annually. The Directors shall take office at the Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors following the Annual Membership Meeting (Article V) and serve until their successors take office. Directors elected by Special Election shall take office immediately and shall serve the remainder of the term vacated.

Section 5. Resignation: Any Director may resign at any time giving written notice to the Chair, President or Secretary of the Corporation. Such resignation shall take effect upon receipt of the notice, or at any later time specified therein.

Section 6. Removal: A Member Director shall be removed by the Board of Directors if the Director is no longer affiliated with a Member Institution, with the exception of Section 7 herein. A Director may also be removed by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Members and Affiliates. A Director may also be removed with cause by unanimous vote of the other Directors.

Section 7. Transfer: Should a Director transfer employment to another Institution during the Director's term of office, the Director shall notify the Chair, President, or Secretary of the Corporation in writing prior to the transfer. If the Director's new employer has a Director on the Board of Directors, the subject Director will be removed. If a Member Director's new employer is not a Member Institution but is eligible to be a Member Institution, and if there are no Director-At-Large positions available, the Member Director will have sixty (60) days for the Institution to join as a Member or else the subject Director will be removed. Should a Member Director transfer employment to an Affiliate or non-member Institution during the Member Director's term of office, the Member Director shall remain a Director by becoming a Director-At-Large provided that (a) there are fewer than five (5) Directors-At-Large or (b) an individual serving as a Director-At-Large is affiliated with a Member Institution and can become a Member Director, opening up a Director-At-Large position. Otherwise, the subject Member Director will be removed.

Section 8. Vacancies. The remaining term of a resigned or removed Director may be filled by a vote of the remaining Directors, provided that the provisions of Section 2 of this Article IV are satisfied. Any director so elected shall serve on an interim basis, until the next Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors. The remaining term will be filled at the time of Board election described in Article III Sections 2 through 8.

Article V. Meetings of the Board of Directors

Section 1. Annual Meeting: The Annual Board Meeting shall be held within the sixty (60) days following the Annual Membership Meeting, for the election of officers and transaction of such other business as may properly come before it.

Section 2. Special Meetings: Special meetings may be called by the Chair of the Board of Directors, or by the President, or shall be called by the Secretary upon written request of at least three Directors.

Section 3. Place of Meetings: The Chair of the Board of Directors or the President shall designate the place of the annual meeting or any special meeting, which may be either within or without the District of Columbia and shall be specified in the notice of meeting or waiver of notice thereof.

Section 4. Notice of Meetings: Notice of each meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given to each Director. For the Annual Board Meeting, notice shall be given to all Directors and to all nominees at the Annual Membership Meeting preceding the Annual Board Meeting. Notice shall be given by the Secretary, or by an officer directed by the Chair of the Board of Directors or the President to give such notice, by delivering to all Directors and to all nominees personally, or by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the address provided by the Director, or by electronic communication addressed to the electronic address provided by the Director notice not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date fixed for the meeting. Notice of any meeting need not be given to any Director who signs a waiver of notice, before or after the meeting. The attendance of any Director at a meeting without protesting prior to the conclusion of the meeting the lack of notice thereof shall constitute a waiver of notice by the Director. When a meeting is adjourned to another place or time, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of the adjourned meeting if the time and place to which the meeting is adjourned are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. Notice of special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given to each Director by the Secretary, or by an officer directed by the Chair of the Board of Directors or the president to give such notice, by delivering to all Directors personally, or by first-class mail, postage prepaid to the address provided by the Director, or by electronic communication addressed to the electronic address provided by the Director notice not less than three (3) days before the date fixed for the meeting.

Section 5. Quorum: Except as may be otherwise expressly required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, at all meetings of the Board of Directors two thirds (2/3) of the Directors in office shall constitute a quorum. At all meetings of any committee of the Board of Directors, a majority of the members of that committee shall constitute a quorum. For the purposes of election of Officers and Executive Committee members, a quorum shall be determined in accordance with Article VIII. If a quorum is not present, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting without notice other than by announcement at said meeting, until a quorum is present. At any duly adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called.

Section 6. Voting: Each Director shall be entitled to one vote. Except as otherwise expressly required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, all matters shall be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors present at the time of the vote, if a quorum is then present. Directors are not permitted to vote by proxy.

Section 7. Action Without a Meeting: Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Board of Directors, or the Executive Committee, may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board of Directors, or the Executive Committee if such action may be acted upon by the Executive Committee, consent in writing authorizing the action. The written consents shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee.

Section 8. Participation by Conference Telephone: In any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, any Director or committee member may participate by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment allowing all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at a meeting.

Article VI. Officers

Section 1. Officers and Qualifications: The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a Chair, Chair-Elect, and Past-Chair of the Board of Directors, a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers as the Board of Directors may from time to time establish and appoint. The Chair, Chair-Elect, and Past-Chair shall be members of

the Board. Unless otherwise specified by Board action, other Officers need not be Directors or Representatives.

Section 2. Chair: The Chair of the Board of Directors shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and shall perform such other duties and exercise such other powers as shall from time to time be assigned by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Chair-Elect and Past-Chair: The Chair-Elect shall succeed as Chair at the completion of the current Chair's term of office. The Past-Chair is the person who served as Chair in the term immediately preceding the current Chair. In the event of absence of the Chair, the Chair-Elect shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. In the event of absence of both the Chair and the Chair-Elect, the Past Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. Both the Chair-Elect and the Past Chair shall perform such other duties and exercise such other power as shall from time to time be assigned by the Board of Directors.

Section 4. President: Except as otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, the President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation, and unless authority is given by the Board of Directors to other officers or agents to do so, the President shall execute all contracts and agreements on behalf of the Corporation. It shall be the President's duty, insofar as the facilities and funds furnished to the President by the Corporation permit, to see that the orders and votes of the Board of Directors and the purposes of the Corporation are carried out. In the absence of the Chair, the Chair-Elect, or the Past Chair of the Board of Directors, the President shall preside at meetings of the Board of Directors. The President may appoint advisory committees or panels to assist in carrying out the business of the Corporation.

Section 5. Secretary: The Secretary shall give notice of meetings of the Board of Directors, record all actions taken at such meetings, and perform such other duties as shall from time to time be assigned by the Board of Directors. The Secretary or other such person appointed by the Board of Directors shall maintain the corporate minute book containing meeting minutes, and resolutions that are in force and binding on the Board, the officers, and the Corporation.

Section 6. Treasurer: The Treasurer, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, shall have and maintain supervision over the Corporation's funds, securities, receipts and disbursements. The Treasurer shall work with and obtain the assistance of the President and other staff in carrying out these responsibilities. The Treasurer shall render to the Board of Directors such reports as it shall request and to such other entities as may be required. At least once per year, and whenever requested by a vote of the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall render a full and detailed account of all receipts and expenditures and submit a schedule showing all property and investments of the Corporation and the changes, if any, since the Treasurer's last report. The Treasurer shall have such other duties as are customary to the position of Treasurer in a corporation of this type and such as shall from time to time be assigned by the Board of Directors.

Section 7. Election and Term of Office: The Board of Directors shall select one of its members to serve a three-year term, in which the designated Director serves one year as Chair-Elect, followed by one year as Chair, and then one year as Past Chair. The Past Chair is not eligible for immediate re-election as Chair-Elect at the expiration of the Past Chair's term. If during this cycle, the term of office as a Director of the Chair-Elect/Chair/Past-Chair expires, this person shall automatically be entered onto the ballot for re-election to another three-year term as a Director. In the event that person is not re-elected as a Director and that person is about to become the Chair, then the term of the current Chair will be automatically extended by 1 year, even if that requires extending the current Chair's term on the Board of Directors by 1 year. The position of Past-Chair will remain vacant for the next year. If the person who is not re-elected is about to be Past-Chair, then that position shall remain vacant for the next year. All other officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Board of Directors for terms not to exceed three years or until their successors are chosen and qualify, and they shall be eligible for reelection. All officers shall assume their position upon election at the Annual Meeting.

Section 8. Resignation: Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair, the Chair-Elect, the President, or Secretary of the Corporation. Such resignation shall take effect at the time of receipt of the notice, or at any later time specified therein.

Section 9. Removal: Any officer may be removed at any time either with or without cause by vote of two-thirds of the Board of Directors.

Section 10. Vacancies: Any vacancy in any office of the Corporation shall be filled by special election unless the next Annual Board Meeting is scheduled to take place within one hundred twenty (120) days of the date of vacancy; in which case, the remaining term may be filled at the Annual Board Meeting. Any vacancy in any office of the Corporation may be filled on an interim basis by a majority vote of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors, if a quorum of the Executive Committee is established.

Article VII. Executive Committee of the Board, Other Committees and Advisory Council

Section 1. Committees: The Board may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the Directors in office, designate and appoint one or more committees, each of which shall consist of one (1) or more Directors, to have and exercise the authority of the management of the Corporation. Other committees not having and exercising the authority of the Board may also be established. Each committee shall have only the lawful powers specifically delegated to it by the Board.

Section 2. Executive Committee of the Board and Terms of Office: There shall be established an Executive Committee of the Board comprising the Chair, the Chair-Elect, the Past-Chair and two at-large members. The at-large members shall be elected at the Annual Board Meeting for the remainder of their term as Directors and shall take office immediately. The at-large members may succeed themselves if they are re-elected to the Board. Members of the Executive Committee must be members of the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Powers of the Executive Committee of the Board: Unless otherwise provided by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors, the Executive Committee of the Board may have and may exercise all the powers of the Board of Directors, except that it shall not have authority as to the following matters:

- (a) the creation of new (Art. VII, Sections 7) Standing Committees of the Corporation;
- (b) the amendment or repeal of the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, or the adoption of new Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws;
- (c) the amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board of Directors, which by its terms shall not be so amendable or repealable;
- (d) the levying or assessment of fees and dues on all classes of membership; and
- (e) the election of Corporate Affiliates to the Consortium.

At all meetings of the Executive Committee of the Board, the presence of a simple majority of its members then in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

Section 4. Vacancies in the Executive Committee: Any vacancy in the membership of the Executive Committee, except that of Past Chair, shall be filled by special election by the Board, unless the next Annual Board Meeting is scheduled to take place within one hundred twenty (120) days of the date of vacancy; in which case, the remaining term shall be filled by election at the next Annual Board Meeting. Any vacancy in the membership of the Executive Committee may be filled on an interim basis by a majority vote of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors, if a quorum of the Executive Committee is established.

Section 5. Audit Committee: The Board of Directors shall create a standing Audit Committee comprised of a minimum of four (4) members: a current member of the Board of Directors (chair of the committee), two individuals with substantive professional experience with accounting and/or federal grant management, and a former member of the Corporation's Board of Directors or current Member Representative. Neither Officers of the Corporation nor members of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors may serve on the Audit Committee. The members of the Audit Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee shall be responsible for:

1. Advising the Board of Directors on the selection of the external auditor, based on the Committee's

- experiences with previous auditors, and in conjunction with a review of proposals from audit firms;
2. Reading and reviewing the annual audit report and providing a summary and set of recommendations to the Board of Directors for the improvement of business, accounting, and audit processes and policies; and
3. Other duties as assigned to the Audit Committee in its charter from the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee shall have unlimited access to all financial and management documents of the Corporation.

Section 6. Special Committees: The Board of Directors, or the Executive Committee acting on its behalf, may create such Special Committees of the Corporation as may be deemed desirable, the members of which shall be appointed by the Chair of the Board from among the Directors, with the approval of the Executive Committee.

Section 7. Standing Committees: By resolution adopted by the Board of Directors, the Board may designate one or more Standing Committees for each major scientific, educational, or research program to which the Corporation provides scientific counsel and advice or management direction. Each such committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board.

Section 8. Other Committees: The Board of Directors, or the Executive Committee acting on its behalf, may create committees other than Standing or Special committees to be Committees of the Corporation. Such committees shall be elected or appointed in such a manner as may be determined by the Board of Directors or Executive Committee and shall have such lawful duties as may be specified by the Board or Executive Committee.

Section 9. Senior Advisory Council: The Board of Directors may establish a Senior Advisory Council to serve as an experienced advisory body to the Board. The size, responsibilities, and terms of members shall be determined by the Board of Directors.

Section 10. Corporate Advisory Board. The Board of Directors may establish a Corporate Advisory Board, consisting of Representatives from Corporate Affiliates to provide advice to the Board of Directors. The size of the Corporate Advisory Board is determined by the number of Corporate Affiliate members according to a formula established by the Board of Directors.

Article VIII. Election of Officers and Executive Committee at the Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors

Section 1. Officers and Executive Committee: Officers and Executive Committee members shall be elected by the Board of Directors at the Annual Board Meeting as necessary, in accordance with the procedures established in this Article.

Section 2. Nominating Committee for Election of President, Secretary and Treasurer: No less than ninety (90) days before the Annual Board Meeting, the Executive Committee shall appoint a Nominating Committee (which may be the same committee as in Article III, Section 4), which shall prepare a slate of one or more nominees for open positions of President, Secretary, and/or Treasurer. The Secretary will send notice by electronic communication to the Directors, Members, and Affiliates, addressed to them at the electronic address provided by the Representative reporting the composition of the committee and the eligibility requirements. The notice shall solicit names of suggested nominees, and notify Directors, Members, and Affiliates that eligible candidates shall be placed on the slate by the Committee upon receipt of written nomination, endorsed by five Member Representatives, at least sixty (60) days before the Annual Board Meeting. The Committee shall submit a completed ballot to the Secretary at least forty-five (45) days prior to the Annual Board Meeting.

Section 3: Notice of Election and Ballot: The ballot for President, Secretary, and Treasurer, prepared by the Nominating Committee, shall be included in the Notice of Meeting (Art V, Sec. 4).

Section 4. Nomination of the Chair-Elect and At-Large Executive Committee members: Nominations for Chair Elect and at-large Executive Committee member(s) shall be taken from the floor at the Annual Board Meeting. Each floor nomination must be seconded by at least one of the Directors present.

Section 5. Election: Election shall take place at the Annual Board Meeting. Election at the meeting shall be by written or electronic ballot that may be cast in person by a Director. Individual ballots may be submitted by identified voice vote, without the benefit of hidden ballot, upon request to the Secretary during the meeting. Election

shall be valid if ballots are received from one-half of the membership of the entire Board of Directors in accordance with this Article, even if a quorum is not present for the purpose of conducting other business.

Section 6. Special Election: In the event that an Officer or At-Large member of the Executive Committee is removed or resigns under Article IV, Sections 5, 6 and 7, or Article VI, Sections 8 and 9, a special election shall be held at a Special Meeting (Article V, Section 2) to fill the vacancy, pursuant to the procedures outlined in this Article to solicit nominations.

Section 7. Method of Voting: In the election of Officers and At-Large Executive Committee members, a valid ballot shall contain at most one vote for each office; election shall be decided in favor of the nominee receiving a plurality of votes. In the election of Executive Committee members, a valid ballot shall contain no more votes than vacancies being filled; election to each vacancy shall be determined in sequence in favor of those qualified nominees with the most votes.

Section 8. Counting of Ballots: Ballots shall be counted by the Secretary and the Chair of the Nominating Committee.

Article IX. Fees and Assessments

Section 1. Initiation Fee: Each Member shall contribute an initial membership fee as determined by the Board of Directors. Each Affiliate shall contribute an initiation fee according to policy that is established by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. International Affiliates from a Developing Country may receive a waiver (see Article II Section 3).

Section 2. Assessments: In addition to the initial membership fee, every Member or Affiliate shall pay such fees or assessments, annual or otherwise, as may be authorized from time to time by majority vote of the entire Board of Directors; provided, however, that for each class of Membership and Affiliation such assessments shall be levied equally on all Members of the class. Corporate Affiliates shall pay such fees or assessments, annual or otherwise, as may be authorized from time to time by majority vote of the entire Board of Directors; provided that for each level of Corporate Affiliation such assessments shall be levied equally on all Members of the level, and for each level shall not exceed an amount per calendar year to be established by a majority vote of the entire Board of Directors. A Member or Affiliate that has resigned from the Corporation shall not be liable for any assessments levied after the effective date of its resignation.

Section 3. Arrears: Any Member or Affiliate who fails to pay any fees or assessments may be removed from membership or affiliation if payment has not been received within a reasonable period of time as determined by the Board. The Board of Directors shall establish procedures for reinstatement of Members who are in arrears, penalties for late payments, and other processes concerning payment of initiation fees and recurring dues.

Article X. Compensation

Section 1. Compensation: The Board of Directors shall have the power to fix the reasonable compensation and fees payable to officers and employees for services rendered to the Corporation; provided, however, that no Director shall be paid any compensation for serving as Director. All Directors may be reimbursed for the actual expenses incurred in performing duties assigned to them by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Dividends: The Corporation shall not pay dividends or distribute any part of its income or profit to its Members, Directors, or Officers.

Article XI. Indemnification

Section 1. Right to Indemnification: Every individual who is or shall be or shall have been a Director, or Officer, or key employee, as determined by the Board of Directors, of the Corporation or his or her personal Representative shall be indemnified by the Corporation against all costs and expenses reasonably incurred by or imposed upon them arising out of or proximately related to any action, suit or proceeding to which they may be made a party by reason of being or having been a Director or officer of the Corporation or of any subsidiary or affiliate thereof. It must be determined by the standard required by Article XI, Section 2 of these Bylaws, that the Director or officer has acted in good faith and not to have been liable by reason of gross negligence in the performance of duty as such Director or officer. Costs and expenses shall include, but without limiting the generality thereof, attorney's fees, damages, and

reasonable amounts paid in settlement.

Section 2. Determination of Good Faith Conduct: The officer or Director seeking reimbursement must be found, in the manner provided below, that they acted in good faith, in a manner they believed to be in the best interest of the Corporation, and with such care, including reasonable inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use in similar circumstances. The determination that the officer or Director did act in a manner complying with this section shall be made by:

- the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who are not parties to the proceeding; or
- the court in which the proceeding is or was pending. Such determination may be made on application brought by the Corporation, the officer or Director seeking reimbursement, or the attorney rendering a defense to the officer or Director, whether or not the application is opposed by the Corporation.

Section 3. Insurance: The Board of Directors may adopt a resolution authorizing the purchase and maintenance of insurance on behalf of any officer or Director of the Corporation against any liability asserted against or incurred by the individual in such capacity or arising out of the individual's status as such, whether or not this Corporation would have the power to indemnify the individual against that liability under the provisions of this Article XI.

Section 4. Liability: The Consortium Members and Affiliates are bound to each other by a duty of good faith in achieving the goals of the Corporation. Joint and several liability shall not attach to the Members, Non-Profit Affiliates, International Affiliates, and Corporate Affiliates so that no entity shall be responsible for the actions of another. The Consortium Members, Non-Profit Affiliates, International Affiliates, and Corporate Affiliates disclaim any liability for consequential, indirect, incidental, or special damages.

Section 5. Disclaimer of Warranties: The Consortium Members, Non-Profit Affiliates, International Affiliates, and Corporate Affiliates disclaim any express or implied warranties, including without limitation any warranty against infringement of intellectual property rights or any implied warranty for merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose, to each other, to any agency and to third parties for actions, omissions, products, non-conformities, defects, liabilities, or infringement arising out of the activities of the Corporation.

Article XII. Fiscal Year

Section 1. Fiscal Year: The fiscal year shall begin on the calendar year, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors.

Article XIII. Seal of the Corporation

Section 1. Seal: The seal of the Corporation shall be circular in form and shall bear the words and figures: “Consortium of Universities for the Advancement of Hydrologic Science, Inc. – District of Columbia 2001” or words and figures of similar import. The form of such seal shall be subject to alteration by the Board of Directors.

Article XIV. Amendments to the Bylaws

Section 1. Amendments: All Bylaws of the Corporation shall be subject to amendment or repeal and new Bylaws may be made by the affirmative vote of sixty percent (60%) of the Members, Non-profit Affiliates, and International Affiliates at any annual or special meeting or via electronic voting, the notice or waiver of notice of which shall have specified or summarized the proposed amendment, repeal or new Bylaws.

Version History:

Adopted at Membership Annual Meeting, December 7, 2010.

Revised at Membership Annual Meeting December 5, 2017.

Revised by Membership vote March 15, 2021.

Revised by Membership vote on December 7, 2021.